1988

Vera Morgan v. Dr. Wallace Jay Morgan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the property distribution set forth in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce entered on May 26, 1988, in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(g) (1987) and Rules 3(a) and 4(a) of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

(1) May a trial court order a party to pay the expenses incurred by the other party in preparing for litigation, apart from those expenses that are taxable as costs under Utah law?

(2) Must a trial court review an attorney's bill to assure that it does not include expenses that are not taxable as costs and that the fees charged are in line with those normally charged in the community for similar services before ordering the opposing party to pay those fees?

(3) May a trial court award attorneys fees to a party who is awarded sufficient income and assets to pay the fees?

(4) Absent a finding that there has been an improper use of bank account funds, must a trial court value the accounts in accord with the evidence of value nearest to trial?

(5) Is it proper to award alimony in excess of the recipient's needs without finding that the other spouse has the ability to pay the alimony?

(6) Is it proper for a trial court to exclude existing tax debt when dividing a marital estate?

(7) In valuing marital property, may a trial court refuse to consider taxes that will occur on sale of assets if the court's property division requires sale of the assets?

(8) Is it proper for a trial court to value a minority partnership interest by determining the fair market value of the assets owed by the partnership instead of the fair market value of the partnership interest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The instant case was initiated by plaintiff's Complaint for Separate Maintenance, which was filed in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on June, 24, 1986 (R. 2-6). On July 16, 1986, Defendant filed an Answer and Counterclaim seeking a Decree of Divorce (R. 16-19). Pursuant to stipulation of the parties, on August 26, 1986, plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint also seeking a Decree of Divorce (R. 32-34). The defendant's Answer to the Amended Complaint was filed on August 19, 1986 (R. 24-27).

The case was tried before the Honorable Richard H. Moffat, Judge, on December 14, 15, 16 and 17, 1987. After hearing the evidence and the arguments of parties' counsel, the trial court took the matter under advisement. On April 13, 1988, the trial court issued a Minute Entry granting the plaintiff a Decree of Divorce and setting forth the court's ruling on the issues of

equitable property division and alimony (R. 485-92). A copy of that Minute Entry (the "Minute Entry") is attached as Exhibit "A".

Pursuant to the Minute Entry, counsel for plaintiff drafted Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce (the "Findings", "Conclusions" and "Decree"). Defendant filed objections to the Findings, Conclusions and Decree (R. 517-22). A copy of those objections and plaintiff's response to the objection (523-27) are attached as Exhibits "B" and "C" respectively. A hearing on the objections was held on May 16, 1988. By Minute Entry dated May 26, 1988, the trial court overruled defendant's objections (R. 529). The Findings, Conclusions and Decree were entered on the same day (R. 531-49). A copy of the Findings and Conclusions are attached as Exhibit "D" and the Decree is attached as Exhibit "E". Defendant's Notice of Appeal was filed on June 16, 1988 (R. 558-59).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant acknowledges that the trial court was faced with the difficult task of equitably dividing the parties' property in the face of conflicting evidence of property value. That difficulty was compounded by the fact that the marital estate lacks sufficient cash to allow the parties to preserve the going concern value of their business and investment assets, satisfy marital obligations and pay attorneys' fees and costs. Defendant recognizes that the trial court is vested with broad discretion in valuing and distributing property to equitably deal with those difficulties.

Nevertheless, in the instant case, as a result of incorrect legal rulings and misapplication of the law to the facts, the trial court went beyond the bounds of its discretion. As a consequence, the court fashioned a judgment with which it is all but impossible for the defendant to comply. The judgment requires defendant to sell a large portion of his liquid assets to satisfy the parties' matured debts.¹ Yet the trial court awarded those assets to the defendant at "going concern" value. As a result of having to sell the liquid assets, defendant will receive much less than the values assigned those assets under the court's Findings, Conclusions and Decree.

Plaintiff, meanwhile, is able to retain the parties' most valuable income producing asset, is responsible for very little debt and can rely on defendant to supplement her income with alimony.

The trial court's property valuation and division is illustrated by the court in a document called "Division of Marital Property," which was incorporated into the court's Findings, Conclusions and Decree. See "Division of Marital Property" (hereinafter the "court's schedule") attached as Exhibit "G." Each of the parties submitted a schedule to the court, illustrating their own views on the value of the assets and a proposed distribution thereof. See defendant's "Schedule of Marital

¹ In fact the plaintiff has now reduced the Divorce decree to a judgment that seeks to force the defendant to do voluntarily what the judgment asks him to do voluntarily. Defendant must sell his unencumbered property to satisfy the judgment's cash requirements. A copy of the Execution is attached hereto as Exhibit "F".

Assets" (hereinafter "defendants schedule") attached as Exhibit "H" and plaintiff's "Proposed Division of Marital Assets" (hereinafter "plaintiff's schedule") attached as Exhibit "I."

The court's schedule indicates that the plaintiff was awarded property with a net value of \$906,036.82 and the defendant was awarded property with a net value of approximately \$886,949.77. See court's schedule at page 6. Thus, considering only the bottom line it appears that the marital property was distributed almost equally between the parties, although the distribution is weighted toward the plaintiff by almost \$20,000.00.

A closer look indicates that plaintiff was awarded assets with a net worth of approximately \$940,000.00. Plaintiff is required to pay only her post-separation personal debts, approximately \$4,700.00, and \$28,000.00 toward the deficiency that will be owed when the marital residence is sold. In comparison defendant is awarded approximately \$1,160,000 in assets and is required to pay approximately \$280,000.00 in debt.

Two assets comprise ninety percent of the property awarded to the plaintiff. First the Bel-Aire Apartments, (the "Bel-Aire") which is the only real property owned by the parties in which they have equity. See court's schedule at p. 2, §III. The Bel-Aire has a net worth of over \$750,000.00²; it is the parties' most valuable asset, see court's schedule at p. 2, §III.B, and it produces approximately \$4,000.00 per month in net income., see Finding and Conclusions at p.3 paragraph 11 and R. 571 at p. 442.

² For the sake of simplicity, figures are rounded off where possible.

The income produced by the Bel-Aire coupled with the award of alimony, bring the plaintiff's total monthly net income to approximately \$6,000.00 per month. That income exceeds plaintiff's own estimate of her monthly expenses, and her estimate is in no way conservative. See Trial Exhibit 54 attached as Exhibit "J".

In addition, the plaintiff was awarded stocks including 2,850 shares of Annandale, 10,000 share of Greenwich Pharmaceutical, 625 shares of British Indemnity Group, 1,730 shares of Medical-Dental Technology, 250 shares of Valex Pete, and 1,600 shares of International Picture Show. See Decree at p.2-3, paragraph 2(b). The court valued the stock awarded plaintiff at approximately \$115,000.00 and indicated that the stock is unencumbered. See court's schedule at p.1, §I.I.

Approximately half of the assets awarded to the defendant are the parties' investments in partnerships and corporations (specifically, investments in two limited partnerships, two general partnerships and one defunct corporation). See court's schedule at §V. The parties own a minority interest in three of the four active partnerships, including: Eckman Midgley & Assoc. ("Eckman Midgley")³; Sunvest Ltd ("Sunvest")⁴; and Valley Land Partners⁵. The other partners in Eckman Midgley and Sunvest are

³ Eckman Midgley & Assoc. owns commercial real estate.

⁴ Sunvest Ltd owns a condominium in Palm Desert, California.

⁵ Valley Land Partners owns a parcel of real property in Draper, Utah that the partnership is trying to sell for subdivision. The property has been for sale for many years. As a limited partner owning 4.4% the defendant does not believe his interest has any value. The value reached by the court is the value of the partnership's capital account included on the defendant's K-1.

defendant's friends and long-time business acquaintances. The court valued the partnership interests by valuing the property owned by the partnerships (less the debt owed thereon), multiplied by the percent interest owned by the parties.⁶

The parties hold a majority interest in a partnership known as the Morgan-Johnson Partnership. That partnership owns Broadmore Apartments (the "Broadmore"). The Broadmore operates at a net cash loss; therefore, the defendant must contribute up to \$3,000.00 per month to retain and operate that asset (R. 571⁷ at pp. 394, 400, 402-03 and 407-08). The Broadmore has been for sale for some time and has been the subject of several potential sales that did not close. (R. 571 at pp. 396-99) There is an outstanding offer to purchase the Broadmore for \$408,500.00, which the defendant wishes to accept but which the plaintiff believes is too low. The interest in the Broadmore was awarded to the defendant at a value

⁶ For instance, in valuing Eckman Midgley (court's schedule § V.A, the trial court accepted the value of the commercial property contained in Jerry Webber's appraisal (Trial Exhibit 18), which values the commercial property at \$3,600,000.00. Because the parties have a 25% interest in the partnership that owns that property, the court found that the "fair market value" of the parties' interest in the property is \$900,000.00. Twenty-five percent of the debt owed on the property was then deducted from the "fair market value". The end result, the court concluded, was the net value of the interest owned by the parties. The fallacy in the court's method of valuation, as discussed in Point V *infra* is that, although it accurately reflects the fair market value of the partnership's property, that value is 35% greater than the fair market value of the parties' minority interest in the partnership.

⁷ The trial transcript consists of three volumes designated in the court record as documents 569, 570 and 571. The transcript of the hearing on the defendant's objections to the trial court's Findings, Conclusions and Decree is designated in the court record as document 572. For simplicity, each of the transcripts are cited to in the instant brief by reference to their court record numbers.

that is approximately half way between the current offer and the value that the plaintiff attributes to the property.⁸

The parties' interest in PSI Ltd was sold during the parties' separation for \$30,652.18. See Trial Exhibits 27 & 28. Plaintiff agreed to the sale only upon the condition that she eventually receive half of the proceeds (R. 572 at pp. 15-16). The proceeds were applied toward a debt owed by the parties to Capital City Bank (R. 572 at p. 66). The tax consequences of the sale will cause a loss of approximately \$23,000.00. See defendant's schedule, at "Tax Liability on Sale of Condo." The parties were each awarded half of the gross proceeds from the sale of PSI, which no longer exist except insofar as the debt owed to the bank was reduced. The court did not award the tax debt to either party; thus it will ultimately be paid by the defendant.

The only liquid assets awarded to the defendant include: (1) approximately \$34,000.00, in bank accounts, a large part of which had been used to pay operating expenses prior to trial (see Argument, Point III *infra*; and (2) the following stocks: 8,550 shares of Annandale, 30,000 shares of Greenwich Pharmaceutical, 1,875 shares of British Indemnity Group, 5,190 shares of Medical-Dental Technology, 750 shares of Valex Pete and 4,800 of International Picture Show. See Decree at paragraph 2(b).

⁸ Despite the widely different methods of valuation used by the parties, they almost agree on the net value of the parties' interest in the Morgan-Johnson partnership. The reason for the similar conclusions on value is that, because the Broadmore has lost money and value, the tax consequences of selling the Broadmore will result in tax break equal to the amount that would be realized if the Broadmore were sold at the court's value and tax consequences were not considered.

Unfortunately, the uncontradicted evidence indicates that 20,000 shares of Greenwich Pharmaceutical and 10,000.00 shares of Annandale are pledged as security for a debt owed to Capital City Bank (R. 569 at p. 147). Thus, accepting the stock values recited in court by plaintiff's accountant (R. 571 p. 315), defendant can sell 10,000 shares of Greenwich Pharmaceutical for \$82,500.00 and the rest of the stocks awarded to him for under \$10,000.00, assuming that Capital City Bank will release the Annandale stock so that the part awarded to defendant can be sold and the rest transferred to plaintiff. Because the court's property division will require the defendant to sell the stock to pay the bulk of the matured debt owed by the parties, sales commissions and taxes will reduce the proceeds. The court failed to consider the inevitable results of its award.

The only asset awarded to the defendant that produces a reliable income is his dental practice.

The debts that defendant was ordered to pay include \$75,000.00 in "fees" owed to the plaintiff's attorneys and \$12,000.00 in fees owed to accountants and appraisers hired by the plaintiff to assist her attorneys in preparation for trial. See Decree at paragraph 2(q) and court's schedule at §§VII.I, VII.J and VII.K. Those professionals consider their fees a matured debt, as evidenced by the Execution attached as Exhibit "F". Likewise, the attorneys, accountants and appraisers that served the defendant consider their fees a matured debt, totalling approximately \$45,000.00, which defendant is ordered to pay under paragraph 2(p) of the Decree. See court's schedules at §§VII.L, VII.M and VII.N.

Thus the defendant is order to immediately pay matured debt in excess of \$130,000.00.

The other debts that the defendant is ordered to pay include: approximately \$3,500.00 in post-separation personal debts, *see* court's schedules at §VII.H; one half of the deficiency owed after the parties' residence is sold, estimated at \$28,000.00, *see* court's schedule at §III.A; a debt of \$44,000.00 owed on an unsecured line of credit owed to Capital City Bank, *see* court's schedule at §VII.B; and a loan from Capital City Bank with a balance due of \$55,000.00, *see* court's schedule at §VII.C, which is secured by 10,000 shares of Annandale stock and 20,000 shares of Greenwich Pharmaceutical. *See* R. 569 at p. 147. The court's schedule erroneously indicate that the loan is unsecured and the stock unencumbered. *See* court's schedule at §I.I.

The bottom line is that the court's property division asks the defendant to pay \$130,000.00 in matured debt although less than \$100,000.00 can be generated from sale of the unencumbered liquid assets he was awarded. He then must then produce enough income to pay the other \$100,000.00 in marital debt, supplement the Broadmore until it is sold, pay his own living expenses and pay the defendant \$2,000.00 per month in alimony.

Plaintiff, on the other hand, can retain her liquid assets and rely on the Bel-Aire and alimony to more than meet her living expenses.

That inequitable result is the product of the trial court's erroneous rulings on questions of law and its misapplication of law to the facts in the instant case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

In Utah costs may be awarded only if they are required to be paid under statute. Thus, the trial court erred in ordering the defendant to pay fees owed to appraisers and accountants who assisted her in preparation for trial.

POINT II

The plaintiff was awarded sufficient liquid assets and income-producing property to pay her own attorneys' fees. Moreover, the fees billed by plaintiff's counsel are not reasonable because: (1) the "fees" billed actually include expenses incurred by plaintiff in preparation for litigation that could not be awarded as costs; and (2) plaintiff's counsel bills at a rate higher than attorneys normally charge in this community for family law matters and adds to his bill for services, such as word-processing and local travel, that are usually included in an attorneys' billing rate. Therefore the trial court abused its discretion by ordering the defendant to pay those fees.

POINT III

No evidence was introduced to indicate that the defendant misused funds in the parties' business accounts and the trial court did not find that such a malfeasance occurred. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion by valuing the bank accounts in an amount greater than the amount that the evidence indicated was in those accounts at a date nearest to the date of trial.

POINT IV

Plaintiff was awarded assets capable of producing sufficient income to meet her needs and was ordered to pay less than 10% of the parties' debt. On the other hand, the only reliable income-producing property awarded to the defendant was his dental practice and he is ordered to pay over 90% of the parties' debt (over \$250,000.00) Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion by ordering the defendant to supplement the plaintiff's income with alimony.

POINT V

The parties' interest in PSI Ltd was sold prior to trial and the funds were applied to marital debt. In addition, at the time of trial, there was a tax debt owed as a result of that sale. The trial court abused its discretion by awarding half of the sales proceeds (which no longer exist) to the plaintiff and failing to indicate which party is to be responsible for the tax debt.

POINT VI

The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to include a minority discount when valuing the parties' partnership interests. The trial court calculated the value of the parties' minority interests in partnerships by determining the fair market value of the property owned by the partnership and multiplying that figure by the percentage of the partnership owned by the parties. That valuation method does not accurately reflect the fair market value of the parties' partnership interest. The value of a minority partnership interest is less than its proportionate share of the

value of the partnership property because the interest holder has little say in the use and management or sale of the property.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ORDERING THE DEFENDANT TO PAY THE LITIGATION EXPENSES INCURRED BY THE PLAINTIFF THAT ARE NOT TAXABLE AS COSTS UNDER UTAH LAW.

In Utah, there is distinction between costs that may be awarded by a trial court as part of the court's judgment and other necessary expenses of litigation. *Frampton v. Wilson*, 605 P.2d 771, 774 (Utah 1980). This Court summarized that distinction in *Stevens v. Stevens*, 754 P.2d 952 (Utah Ct.App. 1988) by affirming the principle that a trial court may only award costs of a type and in the amount allowed by statute. 754 P.2d at 959. Thus, in Utah, costs are limited to "court and witness fees which are required to be paid and for which a statute authorizes payment (citation omitted). Other expenses incurred in the preparation of litigation, even though necessary, are not chargeable as costs." *Id.*

Accordingly, in *Stevens*, this Court upheld the trial court's refusal to order one party to pay the fees owed to an appraiser that the other party had retained to assist in preparation for trial; *Id.* and in *Hatanaka v. Struhs*, 738 P.2d 1052, 1055 (Utah Ct.App. 1987), this Court reversed a trial court's award of costs that consisted of fees owed to a surveyor for an evaluation of the property in controversy. *Id.* See also *Kerr v. Kerr*, 610 P.2d 1380, 1384 (Utah 1980) and *Frampton v. Wilson*, 605 P.2d 771, 774

(Utah 1980)(holding that, apart from statutory witness fees, the fees of expert witnesses are not taxable as costs).

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