1988

Vera Morgan v. Dr. Wallace Jay Morgan : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The court did not charge expenses such as accounting and appraisal fees as "costs" but merely considered these expenses as part of the overall debt of the parties. Since both sides admitted that these fees would have to be paid it was not erroneous for the lower court to take them into consideration in dividing the assets and liabilities.

Likewise, the lower court correctly found the attorneys' fees incurred by the plaintiff to be a liability which had to be dealt with in the division of property. The attorneys' fees were reasonable in light of the experience of the attorneys and staff involved in this case and in light of the extraordinary effort that was required because of Dr. Morgan's evasive conduct. There was, therefore, no abuse of discretion in the awarding of expenses or attorneys' fees.

2. The lower court correctly valued the bank accounts of the parties as of the most current statement presented at trial.

Defendant failed to produce any competent evidence as to the correct balances of these accounts as of the date of trial and the best evidence of the amounts in the accounts was the bank statements themselves introduced by the plaintiff. Defendant Dr. Morgan made no effort to show that these statements were incorrect in light of expenditures or to explain what expenditures in fact had been made. Thus, the court based its decision upon the most credible evidence available to it.

3. The lower court correctly awarded Plaintiff alimony in light of the circumstances of this marriage. Although Plaintiff is unable to be gainfully employed she is still entitled to maintain the standard of living which she enjoyed during her marriage. Defendant has a lucrative dental practice as well as the ability to enter into investments and other types of businesses. Defendant was left with sufficient assets for him to not only cover the expenses assessed against him but also to provide alimony for his wife of some 39 years. In addition, since Mrs. Morgan is still obligated to pay one-half of the \$4,000 plus monthly mortgage on the family residence this additional money is required to meet that obligation together with the increased expense of renting a residence now that she is no longer allowed to live in the family residence.

4. The lower court did not err in failing to apply a rule of tax consequences to the assets of this marriage. As to the PSI Ltd. asset Dr. Morgan applied the proceeds of this sale to pay down a line of credit for his own dental practice. Mrs. Morgan received no benefit from this payment and therefore was entitled

to a credit for half of the gain received. In addition, there was no showing at the trial that Defendant would necessarily have to incur any tax liability because of the award of the court in that Defendant had a substantial income which he could use to pay current expenses and, in addition, had substantial assets which he could use as collateral for a bank loan to meet any additional obligations he had incurred.

5. The lower court did not err in valuating the partnership interests of Dr. Morgan. Dr. Morgan was an equal partner in the operation of these partnerships and the agreements provided a means in which a buyout would occur with no loss to Dr. Morgan. In addition, there was no showing that a liquidation of these assets would have to occur because of this divorce and it would have been error for the lower court to apply a discount thereby penalizing Plaintiff by undervaluing the total assets.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN ITS DIVISION OF EXPENSES AND ATTORNEYS' FEES BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

Defendant makes two arguments in his brief concerning expenses and attorneys' fees. First, he claims that the lower court incorrectly required him to pay certain fees incurred by Plaintiff for appraisals, accountings and incidental legal expenses. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 13-15). Second, he claims that the lower court improperly awarded Plaintiff attorneys' fees in that the fees were unreasonable and that there was no showing that she needed assistance in paying them. (Appellant's Brief,

pp. 16-19). These two assertions will now be discussed.

A. The Lower Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Requiring Defendant to Pay Certain Expenses and Costs Incurred by Plaintiff in this Litigation.

Defendant asserts that Utah law specifically prohibits the awarding of certain "costs" which are incurred by one party in preparation for litigation against another. Defendant relies upon this Court's decision of Stevens v. Stevens, 754 P.2d 952 (Utah App. 1988) as supporting the proposition that appraisal, accounting and incidental legal expenses are not "costs" within the meaning of Rule 54(d)(1). (Appellant's Brief, p. 13).

Plaintiff does not disagree with the decision in the Stevens case since the accounting fees and appraisal fees as well as other costs incurred by Plaintiff's attorneys would clearly not be allowed as "costs" under Rule 54. It will be noted that under Rule 54 a party who claims costs must file within five days after the entry of judgment a verified memorandum stating the costs which he is requesting. The opposing party dissatisfied with these costs may then request that a bill of costs be taxed by the court in which the judgment was rendered. A review of the record in this case shows that plaintiff made no attempt to file such a memorandum of costs as is required by Rule 54.

Rather, the items now complained about by the defendant were introduced during the trial as evidence. Mr. Harold Christensen, attorney for Plaintiff, explained to the court why it was proper to allow the appraisal fee of Bud Ashley into evidence. He stated:

Your Honor, I think that ordinarily, expert witness

fees are not recoverable as a cost of the action in the typical, personal injury suit, and that's true. Here, we are talking about a situation where a liability has been incurred. This is a debt, and much like the debts the doctor will be testifying that he owes. And its an obligation that will have to be paid by Mrs. Morgan in this case; and I think under the circumstances, it's part of the overall debts, and assets, and liabilities of the parties. The court is entitled to consider her liabilities to the same extent the court is entitled to look at his liabilities.

THE COURT: I think Mr. Dolowitz is absolutely right, insofar as there being a provision by decision of our Supreme Court that expert witnesses, as far as chargeable costs are concerned, if you award costs against a party, the expert witness are paid only the ordinary fees.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: Well, I do agree.

THE COURT: I also agree with you, Mr. Christensen, as far as she has incurred here substantially, and I don't know how that is, but for all kinds of things, but including the services of you two gentlemen, but I don't know how in the world I can make an adequate decision in this case without knowing exactly what both parties on both sides are facing, as far as their liabilities, as well as what their assets are. So, I'm going to allow the evidence in, not as a chargeable cost Mr. Dolowitz, only for the purpose of showing that it is an expense that has been incurred in this matter. (Tr. 107-108).

The lower court in formulating its division of marital property in subdivision VII (i) through (n) listed both the plaintiff's legal, accounting and appraisal fees as well as the defendant's legal, accounting and appraisal fees. These fees were treated as a liability against the defendant which was then necessarily offset by an award of corresponding assets to the defendant since the total award to plaintiff and defendant are nearly identical. The court specifically found that these accounting and appraisal fees incurred by both parties were reasonable. (Finding No. 8; see Appellant's Exhibit D). As such, the court treated these obligations of both parties in the same

manner that it treated other liabilities. It did not treat these expenses as a "cost" in which no corresponding credit is given to a party who is found to have incurred such a cost.

Section 30-3-3 of the Utah Code Annotated empowers a court to award such sums "as will permit the opposing party to bring or defend the action. The decision to make such an award, together with the amount thereof, rests primarily with the sound discretion of the trial court." Kerr v. Kerr, 610 P.2d 1380, 1384 (Utah 1980).

The court correctly treated these various expenses as marriage debts incurred by both parties which had to be paid by someone. Even the defendant himself acknowledged that these fees were liabilities to himself and his wife and that "someone is going to have to pay them." (Tr. 435-437).

A review of the division of marital property made by the court shows that the defendant received a majority of the liquid assets including some \$314,000 worth of stocks. In addition, defendant had a net disposable income of \$155,000, \$189,000, and \$164,000 for 1984, 1985, and 1986 respectively. Thus, with the award of nearly three-fourths of the stock together with the substantial income from the defendant's dental practice these fees and expenses could be paid by the defendant much more easily than by the plaintiff who had very little liquidity in comparison.

As observed earlier, if the lower court incorrectly charged these particular expenses in the marital division then the matter should be remanded in order to allow the lower court to redistribute the assets and liabilities based upon the assumption

that Plaintiff would then be solely responsible for these fees and would have to obtain additional assets from the defendant in order to satisfy such obligations. Essentially, therefore, the defendant is complaining at most about form over substance. These expenses must be paid by someone and must be paid out of the assets of the marriage. The lower court did not consider these expenses as "costs" but included them in the total liabilities of the parties. This approach was correct and logical and accomplishes the same purpose as requiring plaintiff to pay her own fees but also requiring defendant to give up more assets to the plaintiff in order to do so. Thus, as to the expenses preceding, the lower court decision was correct.

B. The Lower Court Was Correct in Determining That the Attorneys' Fees Charged to Plaintiff Were Reasonable and, in any Event, Plaintiff Does Not Have Sufficient Liquid Assets to Incur this Obligation.

Unlike the other expenses incurred in preparation of the divorce proceeding, Dr. Morgan does not contest the authority of the lower court to order him to pay plaintiff's attorneys' fees. He acknowledges that under Utah statutory authority and case law one party can be required to pay the other party's attorneys' fees. Instead, he contends that the fee was unreasonable and furthermore that he should not be required to pay it since Mrs. Morgan has sufficient assets to take care of the matter herself. Before proceeding, however, it should again be noted as was stated in the preceding section that the lower court treated both the attorneys' fees of defendant and the plaintiff as equal and assigned them both as a liability to the marriage. Under this

approach, the combined attorneys' fees were essentially paid for by both parties since assets were adjusted to liabilities. Under this technique it cannot be said that Defendant incurred as a separate obligation apart and aside from the divorce proceedings the attorneys' fees which is normally the case in most of the authorities relied upon by the defendant.

Even if it is assumed arguendo, however, that attorneys' fees were awarded in the more traditional sense against Dr. Morgan with no offsetting asset given to him because of such award, it is clear that the court did not abuse its discretion. First, the attorneys' fees were definitely reasonable. The Utah Supreme Court has stated the test for reasonableness as follows:

Reasonable attorneys' fees are not measured by what an attorney actually billed, nor is the number of hours spent on the case determinative in computing fees. In determining the reasonableness of attorneys' fees...[a] court may consider, among other factors, the difficulty of the litigation, the efficiency of the attorneys in presenting the case, the reasonableness of the number of hours spent on the case, the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services, the amount involved in the case and the result attained, and the expertise and experience of the attorneys involved. Cabrera v. Cottrell, 694 P.2d 622, 624-25 (Utah 1985).

See also, Beals v. Beals, 682 P.2d 862, 864 (Utah 1984).

In the instant case there was ample evidence showing that such fees were reasonable. Shaunna Wixom, a paralegal for plaintiff's attorney firm, testified as to her experience and her rate of \$47.50 an hour. She also testified as to the extraordinary effort that was required in this case because of the failure of Dr. Morgan to cooperate with plaintiff's attorneys. She stated that at least 250 hours were spent working on the case and that in fact some of that time was probably written off. (Tr.

356-371).

Mr. Harold Christensen, the chief attorney for the plaintiff, testified that his rate of service was reasonable in light of his experience and that the rates for the others involved in the case were also reasonable. (Tr. 372-374). Exhibit 62 contains the date and description of the services and persons who performed the service from the commencement of the employment to the time of trial.

Mr. Christensen further testified that a higher fee was required on her behalf than that of defendant since in cases such as this the information concerning finances is peculiarly available to the professional husband whereas the home-maker wife has little knowledge as to the financial affairs of her spouse. In addition, the husband has a relationship with CPAs and other professionals which the wife does not. (Tr. 375-376).

Mr. Christensen further stated that obtaining information from Dr. Morgan was, pardon the pun, like "pulling teeth." The plaintiff repeatedly requested information and would be given access to some but not all. It was necessary to take depositions of other third parties in order to verify that the information obtained was correct. (Tr. 376).

Furthermore, Mr. Christensen stated that his firm attempts to use lower billing type of people in these kind of cases since both parties ultimately pay the costs. He stated that the weighted average billing rate of the various attorneys and paralegals involved in this case was \$71.00 an hour. (Tr. 380).

Upon cross examination he stated that his rate of \$160 is not

uncommon in the community and that he was aware of several other attorneys charging this same rate. (Tr. 380-81).

The defendant called no witnesses to contest the opinion of Ms. Wixom and Mr. Christensen that the fees charged were reasonable. In addition, he put on no witnesses to contest the claim that the evasion by Dr. Morgan required extraordinary effort and thereby incurred additional fees. As such, there was nothing in the record to contradict the testimony of Plaintiff as to the reasonableness of the fees.

Next, Defendant complains that plaintiff is not in need of assistance in paying her attorneys' fees. In divorce cases, an award of attorneys' fees must be supported by evidence that it is reasonably needed by the party requesting the award. Huck v. Huck, 734 P.2d 417 (Utah 1986). Mrs. Morgan testified that she was requesting the court to award her attorneys' fees since she had no money to pay them. (Tr. 215). In addition, the evidence adduced at trial itself is a basis to show a wife's needs especially when monthly expenses are close to or exceeded by monthly income. Sinclair v. Sinclair, 718 P.2d 396 (Utah 1986); Walther v. Walther, 709 P.2d 387 (Utah 1985).

As will be discussed in the alimony portion of this brief, Defendant repeatedly attempts throughout the brief to characterize the awards to Plaintiff as overly generous and giving her ample money to live on, secured assets, and essentially no problems while at the same time characterizing his award as one with little liquidity, speculative assets, and many problems. This characterization is simply untrue.

It is undisputed that Mrs. Morgan has no useful occupation. As a housewife and mother for some 39 years Mrs. Morgan acquired no skills which she could use to produce an income anywhere near the income she would require just to live comfortably. On the other hand, Dr. Morgan has a substantial income and obviously is able to utilize that income in prudent investments. Thus, Mrs. Morgan must obtain her monthly income from either the assets themselves or from alimony.

The lower court observed in the initial minute entry that the court was "cognizant of the fact that the division of assets here awards to the plaintiff a substantial amount of money which should produce income for her." (Minute Entry, April 13, 1988. See Exhibit A of Appellant's Brief.). Thus, it is elementary that if Mrs. Morgan is to obtain a sufficient income to live each month she must maintain the integrity of her assets. She does not have the luxury of selling them and later replacing them with other income-producing property.

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